



# A THESIS

# FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF ENGINEERING

Nondestructive Monitoring of Graphene Conductivity using Electrical

# **Impedance Tomography**

Sheik Abdur Rahman

Department of Electronic Engineering GRADUATE SCHOOL JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY REPUBLIC OF KOREA 2020. 02



# Nondestructive Monitoring of Graphene Conductivity using Electrical

**Impedance** Tomography

## Sheik Abdur Rahman

(Supervised by Professor Kim, Woo Young, PhD)

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the

Degree of Master of science

2020.02

The thesis has been examined and approved.

Kim, Kyung Youn, PhD

Professor, Department of Electronic Engineerin Lee, Kwang Man, PhD

Professor, Department of Electronic Engineering

wooyoung Kin 33

Kim, Woo Young, PhD

Professor, Department of Electronic Engineering

December 2019

Date

Department of Electronic Engineering GRADUATE SCHOOL JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY REPUBLIC OF KOREA



I dedicate this work to My Family

& Professor



# Acknowledgements

I would like to sincerely thank my Supervisor Dr. Kim, Woo Young for his guidance, support, and encouragement during my master's study. His overly enthusiasm for research and his mission of providing only high quality has made a deep impression on me. I would like to extend my gratitude to my thesis committee members prof Kyung-Youn Kim and prof Kwang-Man Lee of Department of Electronic Engineering, Jeju National University for carefully reviewing for my thesis. I would like to thank all my lab members who worked with me directly, Hafiz Mohammad mutee ur Rahman, Shenawar Ali khan, Seongwan Kim, Yunsook Yang and Muhammad Saqib have provided good support in numerous ways. Additionally, I would like to thank department staff for always supporting me. Moreover, I am very grateful to Dr. Anil Kumar Khambampati, research professor, Department of electronic engineering, for guiding me during times of need. Last but not the least, I would want to draw attention to the unprecedented support that I got from my family members and friends that encouraged me to be focused and target oriented. Also, I would like to thank all those whom I have not mentioned above but helped me in numerous ways to my success.

Finally, I would also like to thank the Jeju National University for providing me the financial assistance through the BK21+Scholarship, which was extremely helpful to carry out my research work and for my pleasant stay in Jeju, South Korea.



# **Table of Contents**

Abstract		
Abbreviations ix		
List of Figuresx		
1. Introduction1		
1.1 Scope of the Thesis		
2. Literature Review		
3. About Graphene		
3.1 What is Graphene		
3.2 Application of Graphene7		
3.3 History of Graphene7		
3.4 Graphene Properties		
3.4.1 Chemical Properties		
3.4.2 Mechanical Properties		
3.4.3 Electronic Properties		
3.4.4 Thermal & Optical Properties9		
3.5 Synthesis Technology of Graphene9		
3.6 Sample Preparation of Graphene10		
4. Introduction to ERT		
4.1 Forward Problem12		
4.2 Data Acquisition14		
4.3 Finite Element Method (FEM)15		
4.4 Iterative Gauss–Newton method15		
5. Conductivity Estimation of Graphene using ERT16		
5.1 Numerical results with Case-1		
5.2 Numerical results with Case-2		
6. Experimental Studies		
6.1 Sample Preparation		
6.2 Experimental Condition		
7. Experimental Result		
7.1 Conductivity Estimation with Experimental Studies with Adjacent Method21		
7.2 Conductivity Estimation with Experimental Studies with Opposite Method		



8.	Future Works
9.	Conclusions
10.	References



### Abstract

The graphene film has a good potential structure to be used in the future electronic applications. It has a two-dimensional (2D) structure and also it has many excellent properties. The graphene is synthesized through chemical vapor deposition (CVD) process and then it is transferred to the other substrate surfaces. The different surfaces can create various properties of samples, which can lead to variation in its electronic structure, morphology, etc. Therefore, we need to measure the conductivity of the graphene film after sample fabrication. The commonly used methods for measuring conductivity are 4-point probe method, Van der pauw method, Raman spectroscopy, etc. This methods are destructive and only provide information of conductivity measurement across small area. There is a necessity for development of efficient non destructive methods for imaging of whole graphene sample. Electrical resistance tomography (ERT) is a simple, fast and non destructive method that can be used for the monitoring graphene sample. The ERT is an imaging modality in which the internal conductivity distribution is reconstructed based on the measuring voltage on the object surface. In this study, we present a simple method for large sample conductivity measurement of a graphene using ERT. The application of the ERT method has no limitation to the size of the graphene film for conductivity measurement. Electrical conductivity measurement of large size sample is possible and also defects can be investigated by using ERT method.



The conductivity profile results with ERT are discussed, showing the potential of electrical resistance tomography as a reliable and accurate nondestructive technique for the electrical conductivity measurement of graphene sample.

**Keywords:** Graphene; Electronic Structure; Nonhomogeneous; Electrical Impedance Tomography; Electrical Resistance Tomography; Conductivity; Boundary Estimation; Inverse Problem; Forward Problem.



# Abbreviations

EIT	Electrical Impedance Tomography
ERT	Electrical Resistance Tomography
ET	Electrical Tomography
CVD	Chemical Vapor Deposition
2D	Two Dimensional
ECT	Electrical Capacitance Tomography
LCR	Inductance Capacitance Resistance
FEM	Finite Element Methode
PMMA	Poly methyl methacrylate
APS	Ammonium persulfate



# List of Figures

Fig 1. 4-point probe method
Fig 2. Graphene structure and shape
Fig 3. Picture of the Nobel Prize winner in Physics 2010
Fig 4. Schematic diagram of the synthesis technique of the graphene
Fig 5. Schematic diagram of electrical resistance tomography
Fig 6. Forward vs. inverse problem in ERT
Fig 7. Adjacent and opposite method use for injection current
Fig 8. Electrode configurations and mesh structure
Fig 9. Conductive estimated in ERT for numerical simulation with circular (case-1)
Fig 10. Conductive estimated in ERT for numerical simulation with two long scratches (case-2)
Fig 11. Schematic diagram of tube furnace with reaction system for the synthesis of graphene by
CVD
Fig 12. Boundary voltage measured on an experimental Graphene sample with adjacent method
Fig 13. Final conductivity profile of the flow domain with adjacent method
Fig 14. Boundary voltages measured on experimental Graphene sample with opposite method 23
Fig 15. Final conductivity profile of the flow domain with opposite method



## 1. Introduction

Electrical tomography (ET) method has been developed as an alternative method to the available medical imaging techniques, for example computed tomography(CT) scan, magnetic resonance imaging, X-ray imaging and other purposes[1]. ET has more advantages in applications related to the imaging in the medical field. Normally, ET methods can be divided based on the different categories according to the electrical quantity to be measured. It can measure magnetic permeability, electric permeability and electrical conductivity which belongs to EMIT, ECT, ERT respectively. We can measure electrical conductivity of any 2D material for electronic application. The graphene film has a good potential structure for the future in the electronics. It has a two-dimensional(2D) structure with many excellent properties. The graphene is synthesized through chemical vapor deposition (CVD) process and transferred to the other surfaces. Electrical conductivity is a material's capability to conduct electricity. It is represented by sigma ( $\sigma$ ). It can be calculated by measuring the resistivity and this result will determine how well a material counter the flow of the electric current. After sample fabrication the conductivity evaluation of the graphene film is required. The excellent conductor has a low resistivity and high conductivity[2]. We can also measure the quality, defect in many ways of the sample. The measurement of electrical properties of graphene film can be assessed with different techniques. Such as, the van der Pauw (vdP) methods, transmission line measurements(TLM), 4-point probe method, photolithography, Raman spectroscopy and many others technique[3]. The above mentioned methods are destructive and effective for the measurement at small area.



However, electronic application of large scale graphene films requires fast and accurate method to measure their own electrical properties. The ERT method is a contact method which can finding for conductivity distribution of graphene sample by placing electrodes on the boundary of graphene sample. The conductivity measurements are performed on samples from boundary sides. Also, ERT method is available for many different applications[3]. In the following, two strategies, adjacent and opposite techniques are performed by injecting current at two pair of electrodes and measuring of voltage at pair of other all electrodes.

Here, the ERT is an imaging technique in which the internal conductivity distribution is reconstructed based on the measured voltage on the object surface[4]. The electrical conductivity measurement of large size sample is possible and also defects can be investigated by using electrical resistance tomography method[5]. This technique is not bound to the sample size. The electrical resistance tomography can be used as a reliable, fast, non-destructive and accurate technique for the electrical conductivity measurement of graphene sample.



#### **1.1 Scope of the Thesis**

The scope of my thesis is about a nondestructive method for determining the conductivity profile of the large graphene sample. The graphene has been used for many applications. The graphene and other 2D materials have a better electrical properties to use for future electronic device. However, 2D materials have different properties. In this study, the conductivity measurement is performed in large area CVD synthesized sample by using electrical resistance tomography. The graphene is used for thin films, photonic circuits, solar cell, medical sector, industrial, fast charging battery, super capacitor and others many sectors. So, measurement technique needs to be accurate, fast and can able to determine properties of an entire sample area for potential application. But the method needs to be non-destructive without damaging the sample with less measurement time. Electrical resistance tomography is a kind of nondestructive method that uses electrodes at the boundary of graphene sample and small alternating currents are passed through these electrodes and resulting voltages across the electrodes are measured. With ERT the conductivity is determined across whole sample the defect can be investigated.



## 2. Literature Review

This chapter starts with a brief overview of conductivity measurement technique and also discusses about different methods used for measurement of graphene sample. Graphene is an ideal material for future research. It is very hard to achieve defect-free graphene[6]. There have many synthesis technologies of graphene. For example, mechanical, chemical and others synthesis technologies have available to make a graphene sample.

#### Why conductivity measurement is required in the graphene sample?

The conductivity measurement is very important part after synthesis of graphene. It is opposite of electrical resistance. The high electrical conductivity is the a main characteristic feature of graphene. The measurement of graphene is needed for quality control, conductivity measurement and defect identification also.

The current-voltage characteristics using ERT can be used to determine the conductivity of graphene sample. From resistivity, we can estimate conductivity. There have many ways to determine conductivity. There are several techniques that have been applied for measuring conductivity of graphene.

- 1. 4-point probe method
- 2. TLM (transmission line measurements)
- 3. THz-TDS (terahertz time-domain spectroscopy)
- 4. vdP- van der Pauw
- 5. Raman Spectroscopy and others



The four-point probe method is developed for measuring electronic properties of graphene. This method is fast and simple to use. The four electrodes positioned are applied to square pattern measurements of graphene[8], that shows in Fig 1.



Fig 1. 4-point probe method

Here, outer electrodes are used for injecting current and other inner electrodes are used to measure the corresponding voltage drop. Without contact on graphene surface, it is very difficult to measure the conductivity. So it is a contact measurement technique and destructive method.

To measure over the whole graphene surface, it needs several multiple measurements hence the measurement time is high. THz-TDS method in transmission geometry has been applied in order to measure, accurate mapping of graphene conductivity and mobility over large area. Graphene conductivity is determined within short time by using terahertz transmitted through the graphene film[7]. But there is a limitation for this method like, network set-up would be more complicated to use this method and also time dependent THz pulse spectrum analysis.



# 3. About Graphene

#### 3.1 What is Graphene

Graphene is a single layer of carbon atoms in a two dimensional (2D) honeycomb structure. This structure of sample is shown in Fig-2. The carbon atom is sp2 orbits structure[6] hybridized in graphene with a C-C bond distance end to end of 0.142 nm. It is first indeed 2D crystalline material. It is able to see as a basic structural building block. The graphene forms graphite with a constant inter level distance of 0.335 nm. Graphene has been discovered in 2004[9], lots of researcher has been focused on this sensational material. The graphene has very good electronic properties, therefore have potential for developing future devices. The graphene is an excellent electronic conductor.



#### Fig 2. Graphene structure and shape

The graphene has good electrical charge carrier mobility till ~ 200, 000 cm<sup>2</sup>/Vs[10] and the conductivity of graphene is higher than silver metal.



## **3.2 Application of Graphene**

Graphene has lot of potential applications. It is a world thinnest, conductive, strongest material. The graphene is used in industry and research sector around the world. The application of graphene is available for IC, distillation, sensor, transistors, ultra-capacitor, batteries, protective coating, solar cell, super capacitor, flexible mobile, flexible LED screen and many other purposes.

## **3.3 History of Graphene**

The fabrication of graphene was filed in October, 2002, "Nano-scaled Graphene Plates". After two years, in 2004 Andre Geim and Kostya Novoselov at University of Manchester.



Fig 3. Picture of the Nobel Prize winner in Physics 2010

Andre Geim and Kostya Novoselov also were awarded the 2010 Nobel Prize in Physics "for ground breaking experiments regarding the two-dimensional material graphene"[11].



#### **3.4 Graphene Properties**

#### **3.4.1 Chemical Properties**

Chemically, graphene is the most reactive form of carbon. Carbon atoms at the border of graphene sheets have distinct chemical reactivity. It can burn at temperatures (e.g, 350 °C). The graphene has very strong bond with each of other carbon atoms. After removal of graphene oxide, there is no further oxidation. Basically, we can do this by using chemical methods[10,12]. The carbon with each single atom is exposed to the chemical effect from two sides.

#### **3.4.2 Mechanical Properties**

Graphene is the strongest, thinnest wonderful material. The scientists have discovered a technique called atomic force microscopy to estimate graphene strength. Where they found it is harder than diamond and 300 times stronger than steel. The extensible strength of graphene exceeds 1 TPa. It is stretchable up to 20% of its primary length[12].

#### **3.4.3 Electronic Properties**

Graphene is a zero-overlap semi-metal. It also has very high electrical conductivity[13]. The electrons are able to flow through graphene more easily better than copper. Graphene has high charge carrier mobility standards of 200,000 cm<sup>2</sup>/Vs at low temperature. The resistivity of graphene is approximately  $10^{-6} \Omega$ cm.



#### 3.4.4 Thermal & Optical Properties

The thermal conductivity of graphene–5000 W/m.K (Diamond has 1200 W/m.K). It is transparent in nature 98% visual transmission rate. Graphene is a thinnest material with thickness 0.335 nm[14].

#### 3.5 Synthesis Technology of Graphene

Mainly, there are 3 main ways to synthesize graphene, that are shown in Fig 4.



#### Fig 4. Schematic diagram of the synthesis technique of the graphene

Mechanical cleavage from the natural graphite method is used to synthesize small number of layers. This method has been used for the first time to isolate graphene from graphite by using sticky tape. This mechanical method can be used for high quality sheets of graphene sample. But this is also a slow method. CVD is a great technique to synthesize large-area less defective graphene[15].



The common characteristics that may include high homogeneity normally, high quality, fine grains, low cost, good control over layer number and more. In a chemical exfoliation process, graphite is exfoliated by large ions among the graphite layers.

The chemical synthesis is the same procedure which consists of the separation of graphite oxide, dispersed in a solution, followed by reduction[16].

#### **3.6 Sample Preparation of Graphene**

If graphene were as thick as a piece of paper. A piece of paper would be as thick as a two-storey building. Many single atomic layers are available in graphite. We need to exfoliate from them. But the atomic layers are weakly bonded among them. So to exfoliate them scotch tape is used, that can separate some of layers[17]. This method is applied for the first time for synthesis of 2D materials and made 2D materials ever. But this method is not a proper method for making a monolayer graphene film. It is a not commercial and industrial way to make graphene. Chemical methods have come to help in the fabrication process. CVD method is a chemical method, which can grow a thin film of graphene[18].



## 4. Introduction to ERT

Electronic application of large-area graphene films requires fast and accurate methods to measure their electrical properties. ERT method is a technique that can offer fast and nondestructive measurements. The conductivity distribution can be determined on a large area graphene sample by using electrical resistance tomography. This technique is not bound to the sample size.



Fig 5. Schematic diagram of electrical resistance tomography

ERT is an imaging technique in which the interior conductivity distribution is reconstructed based on the measured voltage on the object surface[20]. It is an imaging method applied to determine the surface resistivity distribution using the measurements on the boundary of graphene sample. The measurements are recorded from the 16 electrodes attached to the boundary of the sample.



Image reconstruction in EIT is done using forward and inverse problem. Forward problem is about the computation of boundary voltages using distribution of conductivity and injected currents (Fig 6a). In inverse problem the conductivity distribution on graphene surface is estimated from measured voltages and injected currents (Fig 6b).



Fig 6. Forward vs. inverse problem in ERT

### 4.1 Forward Problem

The forward problem is used to calculate the boundary voltage from known conductivity distribution and applied currents[22]. For the modelling and simulation purposes, the mathematical model is established in electrical resistance tomography system for forward problem and inverse problem[21]. In ERT, current is applied to the sample surface through the electrodes and voltage are measured across the electrodes. The relation between electrical potential u in  $\Omega$  and resistivity distribution ( $\rho$ ) are governed by partial differential equation derived from Maxwells equation.



$$\nabla \cdot \frac{1}{\rho} \nabla u = 0 \qquad \text{in } \Omega \qquad (1)$$

$$u + z_{\ell} \frac{1}{\rho} \frac{\partial u}{\partial v} = U_{\ell} \qquad \text{on} \quad e_{\ell}, \ \ell = 1, 2, \dots, L \qquad (2)$$

$$\int_{e_{\ell}} \frac{1}{\rho} \frac{\partial u}{\partial v} dS = I_{\ell} \qquad \text{on} \quad e_{\ell}, \ \ell = 1, 2, \dots, L \qquad (3)$$

$$\frac{1}{\rho} \frac{\partial u}{\partial v} = 0 \qquad \text{on} \quad \partial \Omega / \bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} e_{\ell} \qquad (4)$$

Where, boundary voltage= $U_{\ell}$ , v is the outward unit normal, number of electrode=L, and  $z_{\ell}$  is denote the contact impedance [23]. Also u electric potential. Here,  $I_{\ell}$ =current,  $e_{\ell}$ = electrode,  $\partial \Omega$  = surface and resistivity distribution are  $\rho$ .

Using governing equation (1) and boundary condition (2-4) for a given conductivity, the boundary voltage can be determined analytically for homogeneous conditions. If the conductivity is not homogeneous, it is difficult to determine the solution analytically. Therefore, often numerical methods are used to compute the boundary voltages.



#### 4.2 Data Acquisition



Fig 7. Adjacent and opposite method use for injection current

The sixteen electrodes are connected to the boundary of the graphene sample as shown in Fig 7. The electrical currents are supplied across the electrodes and the voltages are measured.

Adjacent method: current is injected through (E1 and E2) electrodes and measured the voltage from all remaining parts. After that current port is changed to the other neighbouring electrodes (E2 and E3) and measure the voltage again from across to all other electrodes [24].

Opposite method: The current is injected through opposite electrodes, i.e. (E1 and E9) and the voltage is measured from all remaining electrodes (E3-E4, E4-E5, E5-E6....) after that in the next current pattern new pair of electrodes are chosen for instance (E2 and E10) and the voltage is measured again from across to all other electrodes.



#### **4.3 Finite Element Method (FEM)**

The finite element (FE) method is used to obtain the mathematical solution of the governing equation. The domain is divided into many finite number of small triangular elements and it is assumed that the conductivity is constant within each element. The forward problem can be formulated as a system of linear equations, AB = f where  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{(N_n+L-1)\times(N_n+L-1)}$  denotes the system matrix,  $B \in \mathbb{R}^{(N_n+L-1)\times 1}$  is the forward solution,  $f \in \mathbb{R}^{(N_n+L-1)\times 1}$  is the data vector that is a function of the injected currents, and  $N_n$  is the number of nodes in the FE mesh. Details of the ERT forward problem using the FE method can be found in[25].

#### 4.4 Iterative Gauss–Newton method

For the inverse problem, Gauss-Newton method is used as a solver of the inverse problem. That can be estimate interior resistivity distribution of the domain. Because of non-linear ill-posed problem, the objective function, including regularization and previous information is formulated to reduce the ill-posehness[23,26].

$$\Phi(\rho) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \| U(\rho) - V \|^2 + \alpha \| R(\rho - \rho^*) \|^2 \right\}$$
(5)

Where, boundary voltage= $U(\rho)$ , the actual voltage measured of boundary across the electrode=V, regularization parameter=R, Denotes prior fact= $\rho$ \*

$$\hat{\rho}_{i} = \hat{\rho}_{i-1} + \left[J_{i-1}^{T}J_{i-1} + \alpha R^{T}R\right]^{-1} \left[J_{i-1}^{T}\left(V - U_{i-1}\right) - \alpha R^{T}R\left(\hat{\rho}_{i-1} - \rho^{*}\right)\right]$$
(6)

$$\hat{\rho}_{i} = \hat{\rho}_{i-1} + \left[J_{i-1}^{T}J_{i-1} + \alpha R^{T}R\right]^{-1}J_{i-1}^{T}\left(V - U_{i-1}\right)$$
(7)



### 5. Conductivity Estimation of Graphene using ERT

In this part, the numerical result is presented for conductivity estimation of graphene sample by using ERT. The reconstruction results for the proposed method with simulated data are given in Fig 8. The sample size, length was  $(2.5 \times 2.5)$  cm<sup>2</sup> and 16 electrodes is placed on the boundary. Electrodes are placed at .5 cm apart of each side of the square sample. The shape and size of mesh for numerical simulations is same with experiment sample.



Fig 8. Electrode configurations and mesh structure

Here, two different meshes are used, fine mesh is used to generate true data and coarse mesh is used to estimate the conductivity distribution. Two different meshes are used here to avoid inverse crime[27]. The FE mesh with 6700 triangular elements and 3560 nodes shown in (Fig 8b) is used in the forward problem to generate the true boundary voltages. Inverse mesh nodes with 943 and 1675 triangular elements is used for estimating the resistivity distribution (Fig 8a).



A small alternating current of 1 mA are applied across the electrodes and the resulting boundary voltage are measured. Numerical experiments are performed with single and multiple targets, having a shape like a circular shaped defect and two long scratches. The conductivity of the background is set to  $6.7 \times 10^4$  S/cm and defect which is target has a conductivity of 0.0001 S/cm. The numerical experiments are measured with single and multiple targets, having two types of shape like a round circular shape and another one are too long scratches[28].

#### 5.1 Numerical results with Case-1

The regularization parameter is considered as  $1 \times 10^{-5}$  during image reconstruction. For noise measurement 1% relative white Gaussian noise was added to the generated voltage to depict real measurements. The true image is shown in (Fig 9a) and also reconstruction image is shown in (Fig 9b). As seen from Fig 9, it can be noticed that defect is estimated with good accuracy. Moreover, the reconstructed background conductivity value is close to the true conductivity value. The colour map represents the range of conductivity value across the sample. Here, red colour resembles relatively high conductivity and the blue colour resemble relatively low conductivity.





Fig 9. Conductive estimated in ERT for numerical simulation with circular (case-1)

### 5.2 Numerical results with Case-2

In case 2 with two scratches on sample surface, the regularization parameter was set to  $1 \times 10^{-8}$ . For noise measurement 0.5% relative white Gaussian noise is added to the true generated voltages. The true image is shown in (Fig 10a) and reconstruction image is shown in (Fig 10b).



Fig 10. Conductive estimated in ERT for numerical simulation with two long scratches (case-2)



The conductivity of background was  $6.7 \times 10^4$  S/cm and target conductivity is set to 0.0001 S/cm and amplitude of current was same as previously shown case. The colour scale represent the conductivity value across the graphene sample. Red colour shows as high conductivity and the blue colour shows low conductivity. From (Fig 10) the results for multiple defects are shown and it can be seen that the defects are estimated in the reconstruction image.

## 6. Experimental Studies

#### **6.1 Sample Preparation**

For the single layer graphene sample is grown over 18µm-thick copper foil, methane and hydrogen gas is passed through the vacuum chamber and also high temperature supply is provided. Before the growth of graphene, hydrogen and argon gas with 1000°C is supplied for about 15 minutes for removing the copper oxide. When molecules of methane hit to the copper surface, then the carbon atom get entrap inside onto copper surface and hydrogen atoms could be moved around. This carbon can be deposited as a single layer on copper surface.



Fig 11. Schematic diagram of tube furnace with reaction system for the synthesis of graphene by CVD



The deposited layer can be various centimetre long and tightly bonded on copper surface. The layer should be transferred to target surface. So organic polymer, poly (methyl methacrylate) can be used by spin-coating on the carbon surface. After that, copper foil was dropped on Ammonium persulfate (APS) to chemically remove the copper layer. After 15 min, the copper will be removed properly. Then PMMA should be washed with DI water to remove the APS clearly and then we can use Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> wafer to put under the graphene sample. Finally, the graphene sample is ready to use for experimental purpose and PMMA is required to remove by using acetone or other solvents[19].

#### 6.2 Experimental Condition

The Agilent 4284A LCR meter is used as an energy source to inject alternating current. A magnitude of 1 mA current with 1 kHz frequency is injected through the electrode attached to the graphene boundary and NI PXI-1042Q is used to measure resulting boundary voltages of the sample. Here, we have used LCR meter for current injection, but there are some parameters to choose. In some cases, choosing the wrong settings can result in poor measurement accuracy.



# 7. Experimental Result

#### 7.1 Conductivity Estimation with Experimental Studies with Adjacent Method

The current is applied to the sample through the electrodes coated with silver paste on graphene sample and estimated the boundary voltages with adjacent mechanism. The measured voltages using the adjacent method are shown in Fig 12. The magnitude of voltages is not uniform as it can be seen from Fig 12.



Fig 12. Boundary voltage measured on an experimental Graphene sample with adjacent method

The electrical conductivity measurement of the CVD graphene samples with ERT method is shown in Fig 13. Near electrode-9 in the reconstructed image, the conductivity is low as compared to other area of graphene sample.



The electrical properties of the CVD large size graphene sample were measured by using ERT method. The ERT method used to calculate of the local conductivity value of the whole graphene sample. In Fig 13 shows, conductivity distribution across the graphene sample using the adjacent method. Here, red colour shows high conductivity  $4 \times 10^4$  S/cm and the blue colour is shows low conductivity of  $1.5 \times 10^4$  S/cm.



Fig 13. Final conductivity profile of the flow domain with adjacent method



## 7.2 Conductivity Estimation with Experimental Studies with Opposite Method

Here also, same amount of injected current is supplied to the electrodes of (E1 and E9) then (E2 and E10,.....E8 and E16) and estimated the boundary voltage with opposite mechanism. The corresponding voltage measurements with opposite method are shown in Fig 14.



Fig 14. Boundary voltages measured on experimental Graphene sample with opposite method



This ERT method was used to measure the conductivity value of the whole graphene sample with opposite injected current. The Fig 15 shows, the conductivity distribution of graphene sample by using opposite method injection. Here, red colour shows about high conductivity  $3.4 \times 10^4$  S/cm and the blue colour is shows low conductivity on an average of  $1.2 \times 10^4$  S/cm.



Fig 15. Final conductivity profile of the flow domain with opposite method

Conductivity image pixels have a colour scale for understanding conductivity distribution of the large area graphene sample. The ERT image of the conductivity distribution can be helpful in identifying the regions of low and the high conductivity area. Therefore, this conductivity image can be used to locate the defects present in the sample.



# 8. Future Works

The importance of this scientific research is about new perspective view on the conductivity measure by using ERT method. In future we can develop conductivity measurement by using ERT and also can demostrate efficient algorithm for improving spatial resolution.

For future work, more research should be conducted such as a graphene conductivity measurement of a large size sample without damage, the effect of contact resistance removal etc. If they have many connections between metal to semiconductor for the interface, there is a possibility for increase of contact resistance. So we should reduce contact resistance, hence the conductivity information from ERT can be considered as the true conductivity of graphene sample.

Further research can provide more effective results with large area sample of graphene. Develop the conductivity measurement technique for any 2D materials. The unique properties of graphene conductivity are investigated by using many methods. But we need to find out the efficient numerical algorithm to determine the conductivity distribution with good spatial resolution.



# 9. Conclusions

In this study, electrical resistance tomography was used to determine the conductivity of the large graphene sample. Here, we used adjacent current and opposite current injections strategies[29]. We have measured the conductivity distribution of graphene by using ERT method. ERT offers high potential characteristics to image the surface of graphene nondestructivity. ERT is a low cost portable system with fast measurement time, moreover it is not dependent on the sample size.



## **10. References**

[1] Khan, T.A. and Ling, S.H., 2019. Review on Electrical Impedance Tomography: Artificial Intelligence Methods and its Applications. Algorithms, 12(5), p.88.

[2] http://www.physics4kids.com/files/elec\_conduct.html

[3] Cultrera, A., Serazio, D., Zurutuza, A., Centeno, A., Txoperena, O., Etayo, D., Cordon, A., Redo-Sanchez, A., Arnedo, I., Ortolano, M. and Callegaro, L., 2019. Mapping the conductivity of graphene with Electrical Resistance Tomography. Scientific reports, 9(1), pp.1-9.

[4] Seppänen, A., Karhunen, K., Lehikoinen, A., Kaipio, J.P. and Monteiro, P.J.M., 2009. Electrical resistance tomography imaging of concrete. In Concrete Repair, Rehabilitation and Retrofitting II: 2nd International Conference on Concrete Repair, Rehabilitation and Retrofitting (pp. 571-577).

[5] Cultrera, A. and Callegaro, L., 2016. Electrical resistance tomography of conductive thin films. IEEE Transactions on Instrumentation and Measurement, 65(9), pp.2101-2107.

[6] Ma, Y. and Zhi, L., 2019. Graphene-Based Transparent Conductive Films: Material Systems, Preparation and Applications. Small Methods, 3(1), p.1800199.

[7] Lin, H., Braeuninzer-Weimer, P., Kamboi, V.S., Jessop, D.S., Dcgl'Innoccnti, R., Beere, H.E., Ritchie, D.A., Hofmann, S. and Zeitler, J.A., 2018, September. Graphene conductivity mapping using terahertz time-domain reflection spectroscopy. In 2018 43rd International Conference on Infrared, Millimeter, and Terahertz Waves (IRMMW-THz) (pp. 1-2). IEEE.



[8] Klarskov, M.B., Dam, H.F., Petersen, D.H., Hansen, T.M., Löwenborg, A., Booth, T.J., Schmidt, M.S., Lin, R., Nielsen, P.F. and Bøggild, P., 2011. Fast and direct measurements of the electrical properties of graphene using micro four-point probes. Nanotechnology, 22(44), p.445702.

[09] Novoselov, K.S., Geim, A.K., Morozov, S.V., Jiang, D., Zhang, Y., Dubonos, S.V., Grigorieva, I.V. and Firsov, A.A., 2004. Electric field effect in atomically thin carbon films. science, 306(5696), pp.666-669.

[10] Bolotin, K.I., Sikes, K.J., Jiang, Z., Klima, M., Fudenberg, G., Hone, J., Kim, P. and Stormer, H.L., 2008. Ultrahigh electron mobility in suspended graphene. Solid State Communications, 146(9-10), pp.351-355.

[11] Geim, A. and Novoselov, K., 2010. The Nobel Prize in Physics 2010. Nature Physics, 6, p.836.

[12] Rodriguez-Perez, L., Herranz, M.Á. and Martin, N., 2013. The chemistry of pristine graphene. Chemical Communications, 49(36), pp.3721-3735.

[13] Mu, X., Wu, X., Zhang, T., Go, D.B. and Luo, T., 2014. Thermal transport in graphene oxide–from ballistic extreme to amorphous limit. Scientific reports, 4, p.3909.

[14] Radadiva, T.M., 2015. Properties of graphene. European Journal of Material Sciences, 2(1), pp.6-18.

[15] Juang, Z.Y., Wu, C.Y., Lu, A.Y., Su, C.Y., Leou, K.C., Chen, F.R. and Tsai, C.H., 2010.Graphene synthesis by chemical vapor deposition and transfer by a roll-to-roll process. Carbon, 48(11), pp.3169-3174.



[16] Vryonis, O., Andritsch, T., Vaughan, A.S. and Lewin, P.L., 2019. An alternative synthesis route to graphene oxide: influence of surface chemistry on charge transport in epoxy-based composites. Journal of materials science, 54(11), pp.8302-8318.

[17] www.slideshare.net/mmzubx/graphene-ppt-62378406.

[18] Karhunen, K., Seppanen, A. and Kaipio, J.P., 2014. Adaptive meshing approach to identification of cracks with electrical impedance tomography. Inverse Problems & Imaging, 8(1).

[19] https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=U2jR0YyGW0k

[20] Murai, T. and Kagawa, Y., 1985. Electrical impedance computed tomography based on a finite element model. IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering, (3), pp.177-184.

[21] Chen, B., Abascal, J. and Soleimani, M., 2018. Electrical resistance tomography for visualization of moving objects using a spatiotemporal total variation regularization algorithm. Sensors, 18(6), p.1704.

[22] Khambampati, A.K., Kim, B.S., Kang, S.I., Lee, Y.G., Kim, S. and Kim, K.Y., 2016. A Boundary Element Approach for Estimating Cardiac Ejection Fraction Using Electrical Impedance Tomography. Journal of Medical Imaging and Health Informatics, 6(3), pp.609-619.
[23] Kim, B.S., Khambampati, A.K., Hong, Y.J., Kim, S. and Kim, K.Y., 2013. Multiphase flow imaging using an adaptive multi-threshold technique in electrical resistance tomography. Flow measurement and Instrumentation, 31, pp.25-34.



[24] Zuluaga-Gomez, J., Zerhouni, N., Al Masry, Z., Devalland, C. and Varnier, C., 2019. A survey of breast cancer screening techniques: thermography and electrical impedance tomography. Journal of medical engineering & technology, 43(5), pp.305-322.

[25] Xu, Y. and Dong, F., 2010. Galerkin boundary element method for the forward problem of ERT. Flow Measurement and Instrumentation, 21(3), pp.172-177.

[26] Kim, B.S., Khambampati, A.K., Kim, S. and Kim, K.Y., 2013. Improving spatial resolution of ERT images using adaptive mesh grouping technique. Flow Measurement and Instrumentation, 31, pp.19-24.

[27] Kundu, A.K., Bandopadhyay, B. and Sanyal, S., 2010. A Microwave Imaging and Enhancement Technique from Noisy Synthetic Data. arXiv preprint arXiv:1010.0301.

[28] Khambampati, A.K., Lee, Y.G., Kim, K.Y., Jerng, D.W. and Kim, S., 2015. A meshless improved boundary distributed source method for two-phase flow monitoring using electrical resistance tomography. Engineering Analysis with Boundary Elements, 52, pp.1-15.

[29] Paipetis, A.S., Matikas, T.E., Aggelis, D.G. and Van Hemelrijck, D., 2012. Emerging technologies in non-destructive testing V. CRC Press.

